
Village Hall

255 East Wilson Ave.

Lombard, IL  60148

villageoflombard.org

Village of Lombard

Minutes

Zoning Board of Appeals

John DeFalco, Chairperson

Mary Newman, Raymond Bartels, Keith Tap, 

Ed Bedard and Michelle Johnson 

Staff Liaison: Jennifer Ganser

7:00 PM Village Hall Board RoomWednesday, July 24, 2019

Call to Order

Chairperson DeFalco called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m

Pledge of Allegiance

Chairperson DeFalco led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Roll Call of Members

John DeFalco, Mary Newman, Ed Bedard, and Michelle JohnsonPresent 4 - 

Raymond Bartels, and Keith TapAbsent 2 - 

Also present:   Jennifer Ganser, AICP, Assistant Director of Community 

Development

Public Hearings

190289 ZBA 19-05:  244 E St. Charles Road

Requests that the Village approve zoning variations from Section 

155.205(A)(2)(c)(ii) of the Lombard Village Code for a fence of up to 

eight (8) feet, where a maximum of four (4) feet in height is permitted in 

the rear front yard of a through lot in the B2 General Neighborhood 

Shopping District. (DISTRICT #4)

Mr. Greg Ludwig and Dr. Georgie Ludwig, petitioners, and staff were 

sworn in by Chairperson DeFalco to offer testimony. 

Dr. Ludwig said the vet hospital was started by her parents.  She bought 

the clinic and property in 2012 and has worked here since she was 16.  

It is one of the oldest businesses in Lombard and employs 

approximately 40 people.  She is seeking approval for a variance for 

an eight-foot-tall fence.  This is for the safety of the pets and people.  

Page 1Village of Lombard

http://lombard.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16264


July 24, 2019Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes

They board animals and have animals overnight at the clinic.  Prior to 

the homes on Windsor the area was a field and Allied Drywall.  It was 

secluded.  During the home construction there was a temporary 

eight-foot-tall fence.  She consulted with other animal hospitals and 

found that eight feet is a standard fence size.  All dogs are supervised 

by staff.  They would landscape the area near the fence.  

 

Chairperson DeFalco asked if anyone from the public wanted to 

address the petitioner.

Mr. Ray Keeler was sworn in.  Mr. Keeler said he is a customer of the 

vet clinic and has two dogs.  He said he bought a house on Windsor 

and liked the quiet area and looking at the green field.  He is 

concerned the fence will look like a fortress.  He doesn’t think it will be 

aesthetically pleasing.  He said the issue of safety for people and dogs 

applies to residential homes as well, and he would not be permitted to 

have an eight-foot-tall fence.

Chairperson DeFalco asked for the staff report.

Jennifer Ganser, Assistant Director, presented the staff report, which 

was entered into the record in its entirety. The subject property is 

developed with a commercial building used as an animal 

hospital/veterinary clinic. The petitioner/property owner intends to 

install a solid privacy fence that is eight feet in height along the 

frontage of Windsor Avenue in the B2 District where four feet is 

required. As a result, a variance is needed for the fence.  The property 

owner uses the rear of the property to walk dogs that are patients of the 

hospital or being boarded.  For the security of dog walkers and the 

dogs, the property owner proposes to install a fence.  Before the Allied 

Drywall property was sold and redeveloped in 2017, with the extension 

of Windsor Avenue, a fence with a height of eight feet could have been 

installed with only a permit. Due to the uniqueness of the through lot 

created by the installment of Windsor Avenue, staff recommends the 

variance for the fence to be eight feet in height within the front yard 

along the north property line.  Staff believes the petitioner has affirmed 

the standards and concurs with their response.  

Chairperson DeFalco opened the meeting up for discussion among 

the ZBA members.

Mr. Bedard asked if the fence will be eight feet on the side and Mr. 

Ludwig said yes. Ms. Ganser explained the fence regulations and that 

Page 2Village of Lombard



July 24, 2019Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes

the side yard is permitted to have an eight-foot-tall fence by right.  

Mr. Keeler said he has other neighbors who agree with him.  He would 

be happier with a six-foot-tall fence.  He asked if the business nature 

would change and if the dogs would still be on leashes. Dr. Ludwig said 

it is not a staffing issue.  The dogs would be on leashes, though in the 

future they would like a small area for some dogs to run free.  

Chairman DeFalco asked what their landscape plans were.  Dr. Ludwig 

said they don’t have specific plans.  Mr. Ludwig said this discussion 

started over two years with staff.  He would propose fast growing trees 

six to eight feet in height so the fence is mostly covered.  

Ms. Ganser clarified that the zoning ordinance does not regulate if the 

dogs are leashed or not.  Other dog day care or clinics have fenced 

outdoor areas where the dogs can run free.  Mr. Ludwig said the fence 

would also help during their community events.  

Ms. Newman asked if the fence would be eight feet all around and Mr. 

Ludwig said yes.  Ms. Newman asked if the fence will be on the lot line.  

Mr. Ludwig said close to the lot line, accounting for the landscaping.  

Chairman DeFalco asked if the variance was for the front yard only, the 

first thirty feet from Windsor.  Ms. Ganser said yes.  

Ms. Johnson asked why the fence wasn’t put up earlier, before the 

homes were built.  Dr. Ludwig said there was a natural barrier of 

landscaping.  After the homes were built it was clear a fence was 

needed.  There was a temporary fence placed by the home developer 

while the street was under construction.   Ms. Johnson asked if the 

animal hospital would consult the neighbors and the Ludwig’s said yes.  

Mr. Bedard asked why the fence can’t be moved thirty feet back. Mr. 

Ludwig said they need the space for the dogs and there are water 

retention issues on their property.  

Mr. Jason Flores was sworn in.  He asked if the fence will come to the 

side of the building.  Mr. Ludwig said the intent is to fence the entire 

yard.  Mr. Flores said he thinks eight feet is too high and asked why 

they didn’t install the fence ten or twenty years ago.  Mr. Ludwig they 

were trying to vacate the Stewart Avenue right-of-way and wanted that 

finalized first.  Dr. Ludwig said she acquired the practice in 2012.  Mr. 

Flores asked the ZBA to adhere to the ordinance.  

Page 3Village of Lombard



July 24, 2019Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes

Chairman De Falco clarified that prior to Windsor being extended the 

fence could have been built by right.  Ms. Ganser said yes.  He asked if 

the Plan Commission discussed this when they approved the homes.  

Ms. Ganser said it was not discussed at the Plan Commission meeting.  

Chairman De Falco gave a summary of the petition.  Mr. Bedard said 

he grew up with an eight-foot-tall fence and does not support this 

petition.  

Ms. Johnson asked if the animal hospital was told the new home 

development would impact the height of the fence they could install.  

Mr. Ludwig said no.  Chairman De Falco noted they could install an 

eight-foot-tall fence that is thirty feet back with or without landscaping. 

Ms. Ganser said yes.  Chairman De Falco said the fence height would 

not change from the variance request.   Ms. Johnson said she would 

like to make a motion adding a condition of approval that the area in 

front of the fence shall be landscaped and there shall be an opportunity 

for discussion with the neighbors

On a motion by Mr. Bedard, and a second by Ms. Newman, the Zoning Board of 

Appeals voted 2-2 that the Village Board deny the petition associated with ZBA 

19-05.  

The motion failed, as four votes were not obtained

Aye:       2-   Ed Bedard, and Mary Newman

Nay:       2-   John DeFalco, and Michelle Johnson

Absent:  2-  Raymond Bartels, and Keith Tap 

On a motion by Ms. Johnson, and a second by Chairman De Falco, the Zoning 

Board of Appeals voted 2-2 that the Village Board approve the petition 

associated with ZBA 19-05, subject to the following four (4) conditions:

1.  The fence shall be constructed in substantial conformance with the Site 

Plan; 

2.  The petitioner shall apply for and receive a building permit for the fence; 

3.  Such approval shall become null and void unless work thereon is 

substantially under way within 12 months of the date of issuance, unless 

extended by the Board of Trustees prior to the expiration of the ordinance 

granting the variation;

4.  The area to the north of the fence shall be landscaped.  The 

petitioner/property owner shall meet with the neighbors to discuss landscaping 

prior to installation.

The motion failed, as four votes were not obtained

Page 4Village of Lombard



July 24, 2019Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes

Aye: John DeFalco, and Michelle Johnson2 - 

Nay: Mary Newman, and Ed Bedard2 - 

Absent: Raymond Bartels, and Keith Tap2 - 

Business Meeting

Approval of Minutes

A motion was made by Ms. Newman, seconded by Ms. Johnson, the minutes 

for the May 22, 2019 meeting were approved with noted corrections.  The 

motion passed by a unanimous vote.

Planner's Report

Ms. Ganser reviewed a powerpoint for the handbook. She reviewed the 

general information, ethics, social media, and the roles.  Next, she 

reviewed the social media policy for commissioners, which is attached 

to the handbook.  She said posts on social media should be made 

clear they are your opinion and not that of the Village or the ECDC.

Unfinished Business

New Business

Adjournment

A motion was made by Ms. Newman, seconded by Mr. Bedard to adjourn the 

meeting at 7:52 p.m.  The motion passed by a unanimous vote.

_________________________________________________

John DeFalco, Chairperson

Zoning Board of Appeals

Page 5Village of Lombard



July 24, 2019Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes

_________________________________________________ 

Jennifer Ganser, Assistant Director of Community Development

Zoning Board of Appeals

Page 6Village of Lombard


